
 

立法會 
Legislative Council 

 

Ref : CB2/PL/CA LC Paper No. CB(2)266/13-14 
(These minutes have been seen  
by the Administration) 
Administration) 

Panel on Constitutional Affairs 
 

Minutes of meeting 
held on Monday, 21 October 2013, at 2:30 pm 

in Conference Room 1 of the Legislative Council Complex 
 
 

Members 
present 

: Hon TAM Yiu-chung, GBS, JP (Chairman) 
Hon Paul TSE Wai-chun, JP (Deputy Chairman) 
Hon Albert HO Chun-yan 
Hon LEE Cheuk-yan 
Dr Hon LAU Wong-fat, GBM, GBS, JP 
Hon Emily LAU Wai-hing, JP 
Hon Frederick FUNG Kin-kee, SBS, JP 
Hon Jeffrey LAM Kin-fung, GBS, JP  
Hon WONG Ting-kwong, SBS, JP 
Hon Ronny TONG Ka-wah, SC 
Hon Cyd HO Sau-lan 
Hon Starry LEE Wai-king, JP 
Dr Hon LAM Tai-fai, SBS, JP 
Hon CHAN Kin-por, BBS, JP 
Dr Hon Priscilla LEUNG Mei-fun, SBS, JP 
Hon IP Kwok-him, GBS, JP 
Hon Mrs Regina IP LAU Suk-yee, GBS, JP 
Hon Alan LEONG Kah-kit, SC 
Hon LEUNG Kwok-hung 
Hon Michael TIEN Puk-sun, BBS, JP 
Hon James TIEN Pei-chun, GBS, JP 
Hon NG Leung-sing, SBS, JP 
Hon Steven HO Chun-yin 
Hon YIU Si-wing 
Hon Gary FAN Kwok-wai 
Hon MA Fung-kwok, SBS, JP 
Hon Charles Peter MOK 
Hon CHAN Chi-chuen 
Dr Hon Kenneth CHAN Ka-lok 
Hon Alice MAK Mei-kuen, JP 



-   2   -  
 
 

Hon Dennis KWOK 
Hon Christopher CHEUNG Wah-fung, JP 
Hon SIN Chung-kai, SBS, JP 
Dr Hon Helena WONG Pik-wan 
Hon IP Kin-yuen 
Dr Hon CHIANG Lai-wan, JP 
Hon CHUNG Kwok-pan 
Hon Tony TSE Wai-chuen 
 
 

Members 
absent 

 
 

: Hon WONG Kwok-kin, BBS 
Hon WONG Yuk-man 
Hon CHAN Yuen-han, SBS, JP 
Hon Martin LIAO Cheung-kong, JP 
 
 

Public Officers 
attending 

: Item III 
 

  Mr Raymond TAM Chi-yuen 
Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs 
 

  Mr Gordon LEUNG Chung-tai 
Deputy Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs 
 

  Mr Freely CHENG Kei 
Principal Assistant Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland 

Affairs 
 

  Mr LI Pak-hong 
Chief Electoral Officer 
Registration and Electoral Office 
 

  Mr SHUM Nam-lung 
Deputy Chief Electoral Officer 
Registration and Electoral Office 
 

  Item IV 
 

  Ms Anne TENG Yu-yan 
Principal Assistant Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland 

Affairs 
 

  Mr LI Pak-hong 
Chief Electoral Officer 
Registration and Electoral Office 



-   3   -  
 
 

 
  Miss Jennie CHAN Cheuk-yin 

Deputy Chief Electoral Officer 
Registration and Electoral Office 
 
 

Clerk in 
attendance 
 

 

: Ms Joanne MAK 
Chief Council Secretary (2) 3 

Staff in 
attendance 

: Mr Kelvin LEE 
Assistant Legal Adviser 1 
 
Miss Cindy HO 
Senior Council Secretary (2) 3 
 
Ms Wendy LO 
Council Secretary (2) 3 
 
Mrs Fonny TSANG 
Legislative Assistant (2) 3 
 

    
Action 

 
 

I. Information papers issued since the last meeting 
[LC Paper No. CB(2)48/13-14(01)] 
 

1. The Panel noted that after the last meeting, a paper entitled 
"Concluding observations issued by the United Nations Committee on the 
Rights of the Child on the combined third and fourth report of China 
(including the report of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 
("HKSAR"))" [LC Paper No. CB(2)48/13-14(01)] had been issued to members. 
 
 
II. Items for discussion at the next meeting 

[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)66/13-14(01) and (02)] 
 
2. Members agreed to discuss the following items proposed by the 
Administration at the next meeting on 18 November 2013 - 

 
(a) proposed technical amendments to electoral legislation; and 

 
(b) hearing of the Second Report of HKSAR under the United 

Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. 
 



-   4   - 
 

Action 
 

Other items proposed by members 
 
Constitutional development 
 
3. With the setting up of the Task Force on Constitutional Development 
as announced by the Chief Executive ("CE") on 17 October 2013, 
Ms Emily LAU proposed that a special meeting be held to receive a briefing 
by the Chief Secretary for Administration ("CS"), who led the Task Force, 
on its workplan as early as possible.  Dr Helena WONG said that the Panel 
should also be briefed on the timetable for activating the "five-step 
mechanism" for amending the two electoral methods for 2016 and 2017.  
The Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs ("SCMA") said that 
he would discuss with the Chairman on the best arrangements to be made in 
this regard. 
 
Use of personal data obtained from the public domain 
 
4. Referring to his letter dated 18 October 2013 to the Chairman [LC 
Paper No. CB(2)122/13-14(01)], Mr Charles Peter MOK said that the 
investigation of the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data 
("PCPD") revealed that a smartphone application was found to have invaded 
privacy, and this had become a cause for concern of the public, in particular, 
the information technology ("IT") industry.  He proposed that the Panel 
should discuss issues relating to the use of personal data obtained from the 
public domain and the regulatory control in this area under the Personal Data 
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) ("PDPO").   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. SCMA advised that the Administration's position was set out in the 
Administration's reply to the Legislative Council ("LegCo") question raised 
by Mr MOK at the Council meeting of 16 October 2013 on the same issue.  
In gist, following the public consultation exercise conducted in 2009-2010, 
the Administration did not see a case of providing an exemption in this area 
and had not included such exemption in the Personal Data (Privacy) 
(Amendment) Bill 2011 ("the Bill") submitted to LegCo in 2011.  During 
the scrutiny of the Bill by LegCo, no exemption proposal had been made.  
The Administration had no plan to conduct a further review.  SCMA added 
that the "Guidance on Use of Personal Data Obtained from the Public 
Domain" ("the Guidance") published by PCPD on 13 August 2013 was to 
assist data users in complying with the requirements under PDPO.  He 
noted that after issuing the Guidance, PCPD had organized a seminar for the 
IT industry on 30 August 2013 to explain the relevant arrangements.  
Mr MOK expressed concern that in a recent survey conducted with the IT 



-   5   - 
 

Action 
 

 
 
 
Clerk 

industry, 77% of the respondents had considered that the regulatory control 
as stipulated under the Guidance was too stringent and could not keep pace 
with the present day circumstances.  The Chairman directed that PCPD 
should be requested to provide a written response to Mr MOK's letter to 
facilitate the Panel's consideration of Mr MOK's request.   
 

(Post-meeting note: PCPD's response was circulated to members vide 
LC Paper No. CB(2)238/13-14 on 8 November 2013.) 

 
 

III. Voter registration ("VR") statutory deadlines and offences related 
to VR 
[LC Paper Nos. CB(2)66/13-14(03) and (04)] 

 

6. At the invitation of the Chairman, SCMA briefed members on the 
salient points of the Administration's paper [LC Paper No. 
CB(2)66/13-14(03)] on proposals on VR statutory deadlines and VR-related 
offences as set out in paragraphs 16 and 29 of the paper respectively ("the 
two proposals").   
 

7. Members noted the background brief prepared by the LegCo 
Secretariat [LC Paper No. CB(2)66/13-14(04)]. 
 

Views on the two proposals  
 

8. Mr YIU Si-wing expressed support for the two proposals.  
Ms Emily LAU said that while she had no strong view on the two proposals, 
she asked whether the Administration would consider raising the penalty 
level for offences relating to VR false declarations in order to enhance the 
deterrent effect.  She urged the Administration to step up efforts to combat 
"vote-rigging".   
 

9. SCMA explained that the current proposal of making the offences on 
VR false declarations under section 22 of Cap. 541A and section 42 of Cap. 
541B to become indictable offences instead of summary offences would lift 
the six-month time bar for prosecution, allowing prosecution to be initiated 
irrespective of the time at which the matter arose.  This would enhance 
enforcement effectiveness and the deterrent effect.  He pointed out that this 
new measure would be a further step to maintain the integrity of the VR 
system in addition to the implementation of a series of enhanced checking 
measures from January 2012 onwards.  Besides, prior to the 2012 LegCo 
Election, an additional version of the voter register had been published to set 
out electors in accordance with their principal residential addresses so as to 
facilitate easy identification of multiple electors registered with the same 



-   6   - 
 

Action 
 

residential address.  This measure also sought to address the issue of 
so-called "vote-rigging".  In fact, the Electoral Affairs Commission ("EAC") 
had reviewed the existing penalty level of the offences made under the EAC 
Regulations, and considered that the existing penalty level was broadly 
appropriate.  Regarding the penalty for offences relating to VR false 
declarations under Cap. 554, the Administration considered that the existing 
penalty level was sufficiently heavy to reflect the gravity of the offences.  
The Administration considered that no change was needed but would keep in 
view the penalty level and whether any changes should be made if 
necessary.   
 
10. Dr CHIANG Lai-wan expressed opposition to the proposal of lifting 
the six-month time bar as she considered that this would dampen the public's 
willingness to register as electors.  She said that many people were 
uncertain about their liabilities under the law for failure to provide an 
updated registered address to the Registration and Electoral Office ("REO") 
after moving home.  These people might be further deterred from 
registration as electors if the proposal of lifting the six-month time bar was 
adopted.  SCMA clarified that the current proposal of lifting the six-month 
time bar only applied to offences relating to VR false declarations, whereas 
timely updating of registered particulars was not a legal requirement but a 
civic responsibility only.  
 
11. Mr Michael TIEN said that the New People's Party supported the 
proposal to turn the VR false declaration offences from summary offence to 
indictable offences with a view to enhancing enforcement effectiveness and 
the deterrent effect.  Mr TIEN, however, expressed concern that given the 
long lead time normally required by the Independent Commission Against 
Corruption ("ICAC") for conducting investigations, it might be possible that 
the accused would face prosecutions against him/her concurrently under Cap. 
541A and Cap. 554 at the same time.  He asked if it would be more 
appropriate that offences related to VR should all be enforced by one single 
law enforcement agency.  
 
12. SCMA explained that Mr TIEN's proposal of transferring the 
enforcement actions to a single enforcement agency would have the effect of 
raising the penalty level under Cap. 541A and 541B, i.e. the maximum 
penalty being a fine of $5,000 and six months of imprisonment, to a fine of 
$500,000 and imprisonment for seven years as the maximum penalty under 
Cap. 554.  He added that the Administration had reviewed the existing 
division of labour, and considered that it had been working well and would 
avoid the risk of overloading a single law enforcement agency.   
 



-   7   - 
 

Action 
 

Complaints related to VR and investigation results 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Admin 

13. Referring to REO's letter dated 12 April 2013 to the Panel [LC Paper 
No. CB(2)975/12-13(01)], Ms Emily LAU requested the Administration to 
provide updated investigation results.  The Chief Electoral Officer ("CEO") 
of REO briefed members on the updated figures collected after REO had 
conducted a new round of enhanced checking in the 2013 VR cycle.  He 
undertook to provide the information in writing shortly after the meeting.  
At the request of Ms LAU, SCMA provided a note on some preliminary 
figures on the updated position, which was tabled at the meeting for 
members' reference. 
 

(Post-meeting note : The note tabled was subsequently issued to 
members vide LC Paper No. CB(2)123/13-14(01).  The 
supplementary information on VR provided by REO was circulated to 
members vide LC Paper No. CB(2)289/13-14 on 14 November 2013.) 
 

14. Ms Emily LAU expressed concern that according to REO's letter 
under reference, there were some 400 cases under investigation in April 
2013.  She requested the Administration to report the outcome.  She also 
noted with concern that while the Police and ICAC had conducted 
investigation into complaint cases of 3 020 electors and 8 287 electors 
respectively, the number of convictions and prosecutions was on the low 
side involving only 52 persons convicted.  Moreover, with regard to these 
52 persons, the number of cases involved was not known.  
Mr LEE Cheuk-yan also expressed concern about the figures especially that 
a large majority of the complaint cases investigated were concluded 
"unsubstantiated after investigation".  He believed that these cases were 
regarded by the law enforcement agencies as suspicious, or else they would 
not have conducted investigations into the cases.  However, it might be due 
to failure to meet the high threshold of criminal prosecution that no 
prosecution eventually could be taken in these cases.  Mr LEE further said 
that the offences under Cap. 554 handled by ICAC involved the actual 
casting of ballots.  In other words, as many as over 8 000 complaints cases 
involved actual casting of ballots, which was a serious issue and it remained 
unclear to him how many of them involved "vote-rigging".  
 
15. SCMA pointed out that as seen from the note tabled, a large majority 
of the complaint cases investigated were concluded unsubstantiated after 
investigation by the Police and ICAC.  He stressed that the conclusions 
were drawn based on objective facts and after the serious investigations 
conducted by the two law enforcement agencies.  He drew members' 



-   8   - 
 

Action 
 

attention that most of the cases had revealed that there was no evidence of 
so-called "vote-rigging" and most of the registered addresses were in fact the 
old residential addresses of the electors who had moved away without 
updating the particulars with REO.  CEO added that REO noticed that 
many of the complaint cases which were concluded "unsubstantiated" after 
investigation by the Police involved VR applications made in different years 
and as early as 2008 or before.  Mr IP Kwok-him concurred with the 
Administration's view and he noted that the two enforcement agencies had 
deployed a lot of manpower to conduct the investigations.  
 
Interpretation of the "only or principal residence in Hong Kong"  
 
16. Mr Jeffrey LAM, Dr CHIANG Lai-wan and Dr Helena WONG 
requested the Administration to explain the definition of a person's "only or 
principal residence in Hong Kong" for the purpose of VR.  
Dr Priscilla LEUNG requested the Administration to clarify the voting 
eligibility of Hong Kong permanent residents who had retired outside Hong 
Kong or moved to the Mainland but commuted to Hong Kong to work, and 
these people did not have a residential address in Hong Kong.  
Dr Helena WONG asked whether persons on the Guangdong Scheme 
implemented by the Social Welfare Department were eligible to vote in 
Hong Kong.     
 
17. SCMA explained the qualifications for registration as an elector and 
also quoted relevant provisions of the "Guidelines on Election-related 
Activities in respect of the District Council ("DC") Election" explaining the 
considerations in deciding whether a person was regarded to have ordinarily 
resided in Hong Kong.  SCMA advised that regarding the VR requirements 
for Hong Kong permanent residents who resided on the Mainland or 
overseas, the main considerations included whether the person concerned 
was able to provide a genuine address as his/her principal residential address 
for VR purpose, and to show he had an intention to settle in Hong Kong and 
maintained a close connection with Hong Kong during the period of absence.  
REO would consider each application on a case by case basis and seek legal 
advice, if necessary.  CEO advised that, where required, supporting proof 
would be sought from the electors concerned to facilitate REO's 
consideration.   
 
18. Dr Priscilla LEUNG suggested that the Administration should step up 
publicity targeting Hong Kong people residing on the Mainland with a view 
to encouraging them to apply for VR or reinstatement of registration.  
SCMA agreed to give thought to the suggestion in the next VR publicity 



-   9   - 
 

Action 
 

campaign.  In response to Mr YIU Si-wing's enquiry, CEO advised that in 
addition to visiting District Offices to inspect the provisional register and 
omissions list, a registered elector could also check his VR status by calling 
the hotline of REO.  Meanwhile, REO was also actively exploring the 
feasibility to launch an online system whereby the public could check their 
VR status and personal particulars via the Internet.  The system was 
expected to be launched in July/August 2014 and REO would ensure 
protection of personal data when developing the system.     
 
Enhanced checking measures 
 

19. Noting that REO would issue inquiry letters to the electors with their 
registered residential addresses situated at buildings which had been 
demolished, Mr YIU Si-wing asked how these letters could reach the 
relevant electors if the buildings had already been demolished.  CEO 
replied that REO would first try to contact the electors concerned by phone 
or email (if available) before activating the statutory inquiry process.  If the 
elector could not be contacted, an inquiry letter would be sent by registered 
mail according to the electoral law to the elector's registered address 
requesting provision of proof of residential address or other information for 
verification.  Should the elector fail to reply by the specified date to 
confirm his/her only or principal residential address, he/she would be 
included in the omissions list. 
 

20. In response to Mr Tony TSE's enquiry, CEO said that REO had 
implemented a series of enhanced checking measures from January 2012 
onwards and the measures were carried out on a regular basis.  He advised 
that random sample checks would unavoidably cause disturbance to electors 
and for this reason, they would normally be conducted in a modest scale 
except in an election year.  Instead, REO had adopted a risk management 
approach by targeting checks at multiple electors/multiple surnames of 
electors registered with the same residential address and electors with 
registered addresses at commercial /suspected non-residential buildings.  
 
21. Mr Albert HO suggested that REO should check more vigorously with 
the Housing Department ("HD") and the Housing Society ("HS") for 
verification of electors' registered addresses which were in public housing 
estates.  He also enquired about the number of random sample checks 
conducted on existing electors.   
 

22. CEO said that with the implementation of cross-matching of data with 
HD and HS, some 1.4 million electors' registered addresses had been 
verified after the 2011 DC Election.  Since then, the cross-matching 



-   10   - 
 

Action 
 

exercise had been conducted on a regular basis and REO would follow up 
any suspicious cases.  He advised that through such cross-matching of data 
with HD and HS in the 2013 VR cycle, about 21 000 electors' particulars 
had been updated.  Besides, the random sample checks conducted in 2013 
had covered 34 000 electors and some 3 000 electors who failed to reply or 
confirm their registration particulars were subsequently removed from the 
final register.  Overall, a total of 144 000 electors were covered in the 
checking exercise carried out in the 2013 VR cycle and about 26 000 
electors failing to respond in the inquiry process were finally removed.   
 
23. Referring to the judgment handed down in the court case of Chong 
Wing Fai Winfield v Cheung Kwok Kwan and Another (HCAL10/2012) 
where it was ruled that there was no provision to bar or disqualify an elector 
from voting even though he/she had moved to a new address without 
informing REO, Mr Albert HO asked whether the Administration would 
consider review of the relevant legislation in the light of the judgment.  
SCMA said that the Administration was open to the suggestion.  He, 
however, pointed out that the numbers of electors who had reported changes 
in registered residential addresses to REO in 2011 and 2012 were 300 120 
and 310 000 respectively.  As seen from the figures, many people in Hong 
Kong moved home each year.  It was therefore necessary for the 
Administration to consider very carefully whether electors' voting rights 
should be taken away simply because of their failure to report changes in the 
registered residential addresses to REO.   
 
24. Mr Frederick FUNG suggested that the VR procedure should be 
dispensed with for persons who were permanent residents of Hong Kong in 
respect of elections which did not require identification of the geographical 
constituencies of electors (e.g. the DC (Second) Functional Constituency 
Election and the 2017 CE Election).  SCMA said that Mr FUNG's 
suggestion should be further considered by making reference to overseas 
experience and practice. 
 
 

IV. Proposed creation of one supernumerary post of Principal 
Executive Officer in the Registration and Electoral Office 
[LC Paper No. CB(2)66/13-14(05)] 

 
25. Principal Assistant Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs 
("PAS(CMA)") said that in the coming election cycle, the Administration 
had to hold four major territory-wide elections (i.e. DC, LegCo, Nominating 
Committee ("NC") and CE elections) within a short span of 17 months from 



-   11   - 
 

Action 
 

November 2015 to March 2017.  CEO highlighted that REO would be 
facing an extremely hectic timetable for holding the LegCo, NC and CE 
elections in a span of seven months from September 2016 to March 2017.  
In view of the voluminous preparation work, REO sought to create a 
supernumerary post of Principal Executive Officer ("PEO") from 1 April 
2014 to 31 December 2017 to oversee the overall planning and execution 
work of the entire electoral process for the four general elections from 2015 
to 2017.  Details of the duties and responsibilities of the post were set out 
in Annex B to the Administration's paper.   
 
(To allow sufficient time for discussion, the Chairman directed that the 
meeting be extended by 15 minutes.) 
 
Discussion 
 
26. Mr CHAN Chi-chuen agreed that REO should be provided with 
sufficient manpower to undertake electoral planning and implementation 
work for the 2015-2017 election cycle.  Noting that the current proposal 
was drawn up on the assumption that NC would be formed by an election, 
Mr CHAN asked what other assumptions were being considered regarding 
the formation of NC, which he believed would have bearing on the 
complexity of the operational arrangements involved and hence the 
workload of REO.  Mr CHAN also asked whether the proposed PEO post 
would still be needed in case no consensus on constitutional development 
could be reached and hence no amendment would be made to the method for 
selecting CE in 2017. 
 
27. PAS(CMA) said that issues relating to the formation of NC could be 
discussed during the public consultation on constitutional development in 
relation to the method for forming LegCo in 2016 and the selection of CE by 
universal suffrage in 2017.  The Administration had put up the current 
proposal after conducting a thorough review of the manpower requirement 
of REO and in the light of the anticipated electoral tasks as detailed in the 
Administration's paper. 
 
28. Ms Emily LAU agreed that REO would have to cope with heavier 
workload given the complexity of the operational arrangements for the 
upcoming elections.  She urged that REO should undertake early planning 
and implementation work for the 2015-2017 election cycle.  She was 
particularly concerned about the location of polling stations and in her view, 
electors should not be assigned to different polling stations in each election, 
and barrier-free access should be ensured at these venues.  She also 



-   12   - 
 

Action 
 

expressed concern that there were views that in the 2012 LegCo Election, 
the set up of the Central Counting Station in the Asia World Expo ("AWE") 
was a very inconvenient location.  
 
29. CEO said that REO would make sustained efforts in identifying 
suitable venues for setting up polling stations in future elections.  He 
pointed out that in the 2012 LegCo Election, about 93% of the polling 
stations were accessible to electors with mobility difficulty.  For polling 
stations set up in old buildings with staircases at the entrances, ramps would 
be installed as far as practicable to improve the accessibility of these stations.  
As regards the Central Counting Station at AWE, he noted that it was found 
generally acceptable by the relevant parties as long as suitable arrangements 
for public transport were made with adequate publicity.   
 
30. Ms Emily LAU requested REO to follow up election-related 
complaints received on or before the polling day more promptly with parties 
concerned.  She suggested that complainants should be duly advised on the 
progress of the follow-up actions taken.  CEO explained that most of the 
complaints were handled by the relevant law enforcement agencies (e.g. 
Police or ICAC) rather than REO.  He agreed that there was a need for the 
complainants to be informed of the outcome of investigation as early as 
practicable and the relevant procedures would be reviewed with the law 
enforcement agencies responsible for handling the complaints.   
 
31. Mr IP Kwok-him said that members belonging to the Democratic 
Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong supported the 
current proposal having regard to the next election cycle.   
 
32. Members noted that the Administration planned to submit the current 
staffing proposal to the Establishment Subcommittee for consideration by 
end of 2013.  No members expressed objection. 
 
 

V. Any other business 
 
33. There being no other business, the meeting ended at 4:45 pm. 
 

 
 
Council Business Division 2 
Legislative Council Secretariat 
14 November 2013 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.5
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [595.276 841.890]
>> setpagedevice


